UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FIFTH O RCU T

No. 96-50639

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Plaintiff - Appellee,

ver sus

LATARSHA HUNT,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas

Novenber 17, 1997

Before WSDOM JOLLY, and EMLIO M GARZA, Crcuit Judges.
EMLIOM GARZA, Crcuit Judge:

Lat arsha Hunt appeal s her conviction for possession of cocai ne
base with intent to distribute in violation of 21 US C 8§
841(a)(1l). Finding insufficient evidence to support the verdict,
we reverse, vacate the sentence, and remand for sentencing on the
| esser included offense of sinple possession.

I

A confidential informant told police that nmarijuana was bei ng
sold out of 832 Arthur Walk, which police identified as property
| eased to Hunt. Executing a search warrant on those prem ses,

police officers discovered a brown paper bag containing marijuana



on a coffee table in the living roomalong with | oose tobacco and
cigar labels on the floor. In addition, they found a | oaded
handgun under the couch. |In Hunt’'s bedroom they discovered 7.998
granms of cocai ne base (or “crack”) and a razor blade on a plate on
the top of a dresser. The cocai ne was broken into one | arge rock
and several smaller pieces. Hunt, Dashanta Burton, whois a friend
of Hunt’s, and an unidentified male juvenile were present when the
police entered the house. Hunt was standing near the front door
when police entered, and, according to the testinony of the
officers, did not appear to be expecting the police.

Det ecti ve Ruben Rodriguez testified that the cocai ne was worth
about $200, an anount that coul d be doubl ed dependi ng on how it was
cut, and that it was a distributable anount. Furthernore, he
stated that each of the smaller rocks would be “a | ot of crack for
a crack head” and that the rocks are available in sizes smaller
than that size. Brian Cho, a forensic drug analyst, stated that
the anmount of cocaine base he usually receives for testing is
around 100 to 200 ng per subm ssion, usually in the form of one
smal | rock

Det ecti ve Rodriguez al so stated, however, that a cocai ne base
addi ct may snmoke close to $500 worth in one day. He explained that
al though a junkie who had a rock as big as the | argest one “would
be in heaven,” it would produce only a three-second high. \Wen
guestioned about the razor blade that was found wth the cocai ne,
he testified that a razor blade is necessary to cut the cocaine

base, either for distribution or, as he conceded on cross-
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exam nation, for personal use (i.e., to fit in a snoking device).

When questi oned about drug paraphernalia, Detective Rodriguez
testified that crack users will snoke from honenmade crack pipes,
which can be made from objects such as broken car antennas,
al um num cans, and alumnumfoil. The officers did not find any
snoki ng devi ces, such as a snoke pi pe, and, according to Detective
Rodriguez, this indicated that no crack cocaine snokers were
present. Furthernore, in his opinion, the tobacco and cigar
wr appi ngs they found were evidence of “blunts” being sold out of
Hunt’ s house. He explained that blunts are nmade by taking the
tobacco out of cigars and replacing it with marijuana and that
“prinos” are made by adding crack cocaine to the marijuana. He
stated that in the area of town where Hunt’'s house was | ocated,
marijuana and crack are usually sold hand in hand, “like a little
drug store.” On recross, however, he stated that “prinbps” are one
way that cocai ne users snoke cocai ne.

Hunt testified that she arrived at honme just before the police
officers and that she had not yet entered her bedroom where the
police officers found the cocaine. She admtted that she used
marij uana, but clainmed she did not “indulge” in crack cocai ne. She
said she knew the marijuana was in the house, but denied know edge
of the cocaine being there. She also denied allegations that she
had ever sold drugs. She said she had given a key to the house to
Burton, who was also living in the house, and that Burton had
obt ai ned the marijuana for a “get-together” they were going to have

wth a few friends that night. She also admtted she owned the
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gun, but deni ed owni ng the tobacco. Wndy WIson, Hunt’s nei ghbor
and friend, testified that she had never seen Hunt use or deal
crack cocai ne.

Hunt was indicted under 8§ 841(a)(1) for possession of cocaine
base with intent to distribute. The first trial resulted in a hung
jury. During the first and second trials, neither the governnent
nor the defendant requested that the |esser included offense of
possession be submtted to the jury. Moreover, neither the
governnment nor Hunt challenged the instructions at trial or on
appeal . In the second trial, the jury returned a verdict of
guilty.

I

On appeal, Hunt contends that the evidence is insufficient to
support the jury's verdict regarding the elenent of intent to
di stri bute. She does not <contend that the evidence was
insufficient to support possession. In reviewing a challenge to
the sufficiency of the evidence in a crimnal case, we wll affirm
a conviction if arational trier of fact could have found that the
evi dence established the essential elenents of the offense beyond
a reasonabl e doubt. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U S. 307, 319, 99
S. . 2781, 2789, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). We consider the
evidence, all reasonable inferences that nmay be drawn from that
evidence, and all credibility determnations in the |ight nost
favorable to the verdict. See United States v. Sal azar, 66 F.3d
723, 728 (5th Cr. 1995). The evidence need not exclude every

reasonabl e hypot hesis of innocence or be wholly inconsistent with
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every concl usion except that of guilt, and the jury is free to
choose anong reasonable constructions of the evidence. See id

| f, however, the evidence gives equal or nearly equal
circunstantial support to a theory of guilt and to a theory of
i nnocence, we wll reverse the conviction, as wunder these
circunstances a reasonable jury nust necessarily entertain a
reasonabl e doubt . See United States v. Sanchez, 961 F.2d 1169

1173 (5th Gir. 1992).

To establish a violation of 21 US C 8§ 841(a)(1), the
governnment nust prove the know ng possession of a controlled
substance wth the intent to distribute. See United States v.
Ski pper, 74 F.3d 608, 611 (5th Gr. 1996). The elenents of the
of fense may be proved either by direct or circunstantial evidence.
See id.

Intent to distribute my be inferred solely from the
possessi on of an amount of controlled substance too large to be
used by the possessor alone. See United States v. Prieto-Tejas,
779 F. 2d 1098, 1101 (5th Cr. 1986). On the other hand, a quantity
that is consistent with personal use does not raise such an
inference in the absence of other evidence. See Skipper, 74 F.3d
at 611 (holding as a matter of lawthat 2.89 grans of crack cocai ne
alone was insufficient to prove intent, despite testinony
i ndi cating that anmount coul d suggest drug dealing, because it was
“not clearly inconsistent with personal use”); see also Turner v.
United States, 396 U. S. 398, 423, 90 S. C. 642, 656, 24 L.Ed.2d

610 (1970) (holding that a small quantity of cocaine, which could
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be for the defendant’s personal use as well as for sale, does not
support an inference of distribution).

Hunt contends that the 7.998 grans of crack cocai ne that the
police discovered in her house is insufficient as a matter of |aw
toinfer intent, and we agree. Al though the governnent introduced
testinony that this amount is a distributable anobunt and that the
i ndi vi dual rocks may be | arger than those that Detective Rodriguez
believes are wusually snoked or that Cho, the forensic analyst,
usual ly tests, the testinony also indicated, as in Skipper, that
this anbunt was al so consistent with personal use. |In particular,
Detective Rodriguez testified that a crack cocai ne user may snoke,
in one day al one, close to $500 worth, an anount that exceeds even
t he hi ghest val ue he assigned to the cocaine found in Hunt’ s house.
Furthernore, at oral argunent, the governnent conceded that “the
anount alone, by itself, is not sufficient” to support an inference

of intent to distribute.?

. In considering the quantity of crack cocaine found in
Hunt’'s house, we note that, in a few cases, other circuit courts
rested their decisions that the evidence was sufficient to support
an inference of intent in large part on quantities conparable to
this anount. In United States v. Lamarr, 75 F.3d 964, 973 (4th
Cr. 1996), the court quoted a letter to the editor of the
Washi ngt on Post (regardi ng sentencing), which stated that “‘[f]ive
grans of crack cocaine is the equivalent of 50 street doses’” and
that “‘anybody holding that much crack is dealing.’”” The court
concluded that the 5.72 grans the defendant possessed was roughly
the anobunt a strong user would use in two nonths and held that,
conbined with testinony that the defendant was dealing, the
evi dence was sufficient toinfer intent. See also United States v.
Haney, 23 F.3d 1413 (8th Cr. 1994) (enphasi zing the testi nony of a
crimnol ogist that if an addict ingested 6.57 grans of crack in one
or two days he woul d probably die; but also relying on confidenti al
informant’s information that defendant would be selling crack in
exchange for food stanps, the $371 cash and $97 in food stanps
found on defendant, and the fact that cocaine was cut into $20
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We nust therefore examne the other evidence to determ ne
whether it, in conjunction with the quantity of cocaine found,
suffices to establish the requisite intent to distribute. See
United States v. Miunoz, 957 F.2d 171, 174 (5th Cr. 1992) (noting
that even a small quantity of cocaine is sufficient to infer intent
when augnented by the presence of evidence such as distribution
paraphernalia or large quantities of cash). As with the quantity
of drugs, however, “[p]araphernalia that could be consistent with
personal use does not provide a sound basis for inferring intent to
distribute.” Skipper, 74 F.3d at 611. As evidence of intent to
distribute, the governnent points to the razor bl ade, the absence
of snoki ng pi pes or other such instrunents, the evidence of blunts,
the gun, and Hunt’s testinony. In Skipper, the governnent
simlarly argued that a straight-edged razor and the absence of
snoki ng paraphernalia suggested the intent to distribute. 1d. W
held that, even viewed in the light nost favorable to the
governnent, the evidence was insufficient to prove intent beyond a
reasonabl e doubt. The same conclusion is warranted here.

Detective Rodriguez testified that al though a razor bl ade i s needed

pi eces). Here, however, the only testinony the jury heard
regarding the quantity of drugs was that a crack cocai ne user can
consune in one day, a value of crack greater than that found in
Hunt’ s house and that the size of the individual rocks may be
| arger than those usually snoked by crack users or those tested by
Brian Cho. Furthernore, we note again the governnent’s concessi on
at oral argunent that this anount, by itself, is not sufficient to
support an inference of intent. Therefore, although we recognize
the inport of the quantity in determning the intent to distribute
controll ed substances, we conclude that the quantity of cocaine
base at issue here, as evaluated by the testinony presented, does
not support an inference of intent to distribute.
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to cut crack cocaine for distribution, it is also needed to cut the
cocai ne for personal use. Furthernore, even though Rodriguez
testified that the evidence of blunts indicated drug sales, he al so
said that the evidence indicated use, nanely, the snoking of
cocaine in the form of prinos. Because this evidence is also
consi stent with personal use, we do not believe it provides a sound
basis for inferring that Hunt intended to distribute the cocai ne.

The governnent al so points to the gun found under her couch as
evidence of Hunt’s intent to distribute. W have often recognized
that guns are tools of the trade in the drug business. See United
States v. Martinez, 808 F.2d 1050, 1057 (5th Gr. 1987). In United
States v. Lucien, 61 F.3d 366, 375 (5th Cir. 1995),2 t he gover nnent
argued that three guns that were found i n the defendant’s apart nent
wer e evi dence that he was distributing cocai ne base. [|n response,
we noted that “[a]lthough we do not discount the preval ence of guns
in drug trafficking, we do not place undue wei ght on the presence
of the guns in this case because [the defendants] coul d have untold
reasons, nefarious and otherwise, for Kkeeping guns in the
apartnent.” |d. at 375-76; see also United States v. G bbs, 904
F.2d 52, 59 (D.C. Gr. 1990) (stating that “[w] hile the presence of

2 I n Luci en, the defendant was convicted of possession with
intent to distribute cocaine base in violation of 8§ 841(a)(1).
Upon executing a search warrant, the police found 16.48 grans of
crack cocai ne, three weapons, over $1200 cash, and a plastic bag
with several alum numfoil packets. W found that the evidence was
sufficient to support Lucien s conviction under 8§ 841(a)(1). W
reversed the conviction, however, and remanded the case for
retrial, holding that because a reasonable jury could convict
Luci en of possession but acquit him of possession with intent to
distribute, the district court had erred in refusing to give the
requested | esser included offense instruction.
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weapons may be a factor in considering whether the defendants
intended to distribute the cocaine, the nere presence of weapons is
not, in and of itself, dispositive of such intent”). The reasoning
in Lucien applies with equal force to this case. Hunt’s gun was
found in her residence, under a couch, and not with the cocai ne.
Furthernmore, Hunt nmade no nove toward the gun when the police
entered, and she adm tted when asked that she did have a gun in the
house. This evidence can be contrasted with cases in which a
weapon was found in a nore incrimnating context. See, e.g.,
United States v. Harrison, 55 F.3d 163, 165 (5th Gr.) (noting that
| oaded .22 caliber pistol and amunition were found next to 49. 32
grans of cocaine base in dresser drawer), cert. denied, = US.
_, 116 S. C. 324, 133 L.Ed.2d 225 (1995); United States V.
Perez, 648 F.2d 219, 220-21 (5th Gr. Unit B June 1981) (noting
t hat when defendant noticed police observing himfeedi ng bal es of
marijuana on conveyor belt to boat, he ran into house and was
apprehended as he reached toward a shelf on which there were two
| oaded weapons). Unconnected with any such circunstances, however,
the gun is no nore probative of distribution of drugs than of
ot her, non-nefarious purposes for which one may keep a gun. W
therefore cannot affirmHunt’s conviction based on the presence of
t he gun.

The governnent al so argues that the jury could have rejected
Hunt’ s testinony that she had no know edge of the cocaine and that
Hunt’ s deni al of use of cocai ne necessitates a conclusion that the

cocai ne was kept on the premses for distribution. On appeal,
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however, Hunt does not challenge the jury's finding that she
possessed the cocaine. Furthernore, although denial of personal
consunption nmay be a factor in inferring intent to distribute in
certain circunstances, see Minoz, 957 F.2d at 174, we have stated
that a defendant’s “denial of guilt itself should not be permtted
to becone evidence of qguilt.” United States v. Sutherland, 428
F.2d 1152, 1157 (5th G r. 1970) (distinguishing “a nmere denial” of
guilt from an affirmative assertion of an alibi or other
explanation for the behavior). Accordingly, we reject the
governnent’s argunent that Hunt’s denial of use leads to the
i nference that she intended to distribute the crack.

When we have concluded that the evidence presented at trial
was sufficient to support an inference of intent to distribute, we
have pointed to evidence that is not as equally probative of
possession as of distribution. See, e.g., Lucien, 61 F.3d at 376
(over $1200 cash, three weapons, and a plastic bag with severa
alum numfoil packets); United States v. Pigrum 922 F.2d 249, 251
(5th Gr. 1991) (two sets of scales, coffee cup containing a test
tube, cutting agent); United States v. Onick, 889 F.2d 1425, 1430-
31 (5th 1989) (drug paraphernalia, particularly 4,063 enpty
gel caps, and testinony that deal ers package drugs in these gel caps
for street distribution); United States v. Prieto-Tejas, 779 F.2d
1098, 1101 (5th Gr. 1986) (value of cocaine between $2,200 and
$9, 000). W do not, however, see any evidence in this case, viewed
individually or collectively, that 1is nore probative of

distribution than of possession. W therefore hold that a
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reasonabl e jury could not conclude beyond a reasonabl e doubt that
Hunt intended to distribute the cocaine. W accordingly reverse
Hunt’ s conviction for possession with intent to distribute.

11

The governnent asked us to remand for entry of judgnent and
for sentencing on the | esser included offense of sinple possession
if we found the evidence insufficient to support the el enment of
intent to distribute. In her brief, Hunt requested a judgnent of
acquittal if we found the evidence insufficient to support the
conviction for possession with intent to distribute. At ora
argunent, however, defense counsel conceded that we shoul d direct
entry of judgnent on the |esser included offense of m sdeneanor
possession under 21 U S.C. § 844(a).

In certain limted circunstances, we nay exercise our power
under 28 U. S.C. § 2106 and reduce a conviction to a | esser included
of fense.® See Skipper, 74 F.3d at 612 (reducing defendant’s 8§
841(a) (1) convictionto a 8§ 844(a) conviction upon finding that the
evidence was insufficient as a matter of lawto support the el enent
of intent to distribute); see also Rutledge v. United States,

US _ , 116 S. C. 1241, 1250, 134 L.Ed.2d 419 (1996) (stating
that “federal appellate courts appear to have uniformy concl uded

that they may direct the entry of judgnent for a | esser included

3 Section 2106 provides as follows: “The Suprene Court or
any other court of appellate jurisdiction may affirm nodify,
vacate, set aside or reverse any judgnent, decree, or order of a
court lawfully brought before it for review, and may renmand the
cause and direct the entry of such appropriate judgnent, decree, or
order, or require such further proceedings to be had as may be j ust
under the circunstances.” 28 U S.C. § 2106.
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of fense when a conviction for a greater offense is reversed on
grounds that affect only the greater offense” and that it *“has
noted the use of such a practice with approval”). Those
ci rcunst ances have been outlined as follows: “It nust be clear (1)
that the evidence adduced at trial fails to support one or nore
el ements of the crinme of which appellant was convicted, (2) that
such evidence sufficiently sustains all the elenents of another
offense, (3) that the latter is a |lesser included offense of the
former, and (4) that no undue prejudice wll result to the
accused.” Allison v. United States, 409 F.2d 445, 451 (D.C. Cr.
1969) (cited with approval in Rutledge, 116 S. . at 1250 n.15);
see also United States v. Smth, 13 F. 3d 380, 383 (10th G r. 1993)
(suggesting that the referred-to prejudice generally arises when
the defenses presented to the jury would have differed).

In Iight of our reversal of Hunt’s conviction, we find the
first prong of the Allison test satisfied. W further find that
the third prong is satisfied by our decision in United States v.
Dei sch, in which we held that sinple possession under § 844(a) is
a |lesser included offense of 8§ 841(a)(1). See United States v.
Dei sch, 20 F.3d 139, 152 (5th Cr. 1994) (holding that even if the
indictnment alleges that the controlled substance is cocai ne base,
fel ony possession, which requires that the substance be cocaine
base, cannot be a | esser included offense of § 841(a)(1), but that
si npl e possessi on may be a | esser included offense of § 841(a)(1)).

Wth regard to the second prong, we note that Hunt does not

chal | enge the sufficiency of the evidence regardi ng possessi on and
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that her sole argunent on appeal is that the elenent of intent to
distribute is not sufficiently supported by the evidence. In
Ski pper, we stated that “[b]ecause the jury necessarily found al
of the elenents of sinple possession in rendering its verdict, we
are enpowered under 28 U . S.C. § 2106 to reduce Skipper's Section
841 conviction to a Section 844 conviction.” Skipper, 74 F.3d at
612. W find the sane to be true in this case: the jury
necessarily found all of the elenents of sinple possession in
rendering its verdict.

Hunt does not argue that a reduction to sinple possession
woul d result in undue prejudice to her. In fact, as noted above,
at oral argunent, defense counsel agreed that such a result was
warranted under this circuit’s case law.* W note again that Hunt
has conceded the el enent of possessi on on appeal, challenging only
the elenent of intent. We therefore find that reducing Hunt’s
conviction to possession wll occasion her no undue prejudice. See
Smth, 13 F.3d at 383 (remanding for resentencing on 8 841(a)(1),
a |l esser included of fense of 8 860, because “the only prejudice M.
Smth suggests is that he will be convicted of a proven |esser
i ncluded offense” and that “[t]his is not the undue prejudice

contenpl ated by the test set forth in Allison”).

4 At oral argunent, defense counsel stated that Deisch and
United States v. Fitzgerald conpel us to reduce the conviction to
possession. See Deisch, 20 F.3d at 152 (reversing conviction for
fel ony possession and remanding for sentencing on m sdeneanor
possession, both under § 844(a)); United States v. Fitzgerald, 89
F.3d 218 (5th Gr.) (affirmng conviction of felony possession
under 8 844(a)), cert. denied, __ US __ , 117 S. C. 446, 136
L. Ed.2d 342 (1996). The governnent cited Skipper for the sane
proposi tion.
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W pause, however, to question whether we can direct the entry
of judgnent on a |lesser included offense when the district court
did not instruct the jury that it could find the defendant guilty
of that | esser included offense. Although Skipper does not nention
whet her the jury was instructed that it could find the defendant
guilty of the lesser included offense, it does not explicitly
require that the jury be so instructed.® In United States v.
Mtcheltree, the Tenth Grcuit noted that cases in which courts had
remanded for entry of judgnent on the |esser included offense
i nvol ved either an instruction or sone type of concession. See
United States v. Mtcheltree, 940 F. 2d 1329, 1352 & n. 17 (10th Gr.
1991) (declining to enter m sdeneanor convictions on tw counts and

i nstead remandi ng for new trial because no | esser included of fense

5 Al t hough many cases di sclose that the jury was instructed
on the l|esser included offense, see, e.g., United States wv.
Boi ssoneaul t, 926 F.2d 230, 235 (2d Cr. 1991), it appears to be a
separate requirenent only in the NNnth Grcuit. See, e.g., United
States v. Dinkine, 17 F.3d 1192, 1198 (9th Cr. 1994). O her
circuit courts have remanded on the |esser included offense even
when the jury was not instructed on it, generally under conditions
which did not denonstrate any prejudice to the defendant. See,
e.g., United States v. LaMartina, 584 F.2d 764, 766-67 (6th Cr.
1978) (holding that although district court erred in refusing to
i nstruct on | esser included of fense, sentence shoul d be vacat ed and
case remanded for sentencing on |esser included offense as there
was sufficient evidence to support the | esser but not the greater
of fense); United States v. Cobb, 558 F.2d 486, 489 (8th Gr. 1977)
(remandi ng for resentenci ng on | esser i ncluded of fense because jury
must necessarily have found each elenent of Iesser included
of fense, even though defendant declined district court’s offer of
an instruction on the |esser included offense); United States v.
Melton, 491 F.2d 45, 57-58 (D.C. Gr. 1973) (remanding for
sentencing on |esser included offense because jury necessarily
found the facts required for conviction of the |esser included
of fense and there was no question as to the sufficiency of that
evi dence, thereby anending prior opinion, in which it had entered
j udgnent of acquittal because the governnent had chosen at trial to
seek conviction only on the greater offense).

-14-



instructions were given and neither party nmade any concessi ons on
the issues in dispute). Applying Mtcheltree's approach to this
case, we find that the lack of instruction on the |esser included
of fense was not unduly prejudicial to Hunt, as she has conceded t he
el ement of possession. Furthernore, we note that Hunt did not
chal | enge our power to reduce her conviction despite the |ack of
i nstruction. We therefore remand the case with instructions to
enter a judgnent of guilt of sinple possession under 21 U.S.C. 8§
844(a) and to sentence Hunt for that offense.

For the foregoing reasons, Hunt’s conviction is REVERSED, the

sentence i s VACATED, and the cause is REMANDED with instructions.
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